JOINT WASTE DISPOSAL BOARD
NOTICE OF MEETING

THURSDAY 23 JANUARY 2020

TO:

ALL MEMBERS OF THE JOINT WASTE DISPOSAL BOARD

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Joint Waste Disposal Board on Thursday
23 January 2020 at 9.30 am in the Boardroom - Time Square, Market Street,
Bracknell, RG12 1JD. An agenda for the meeting is set out overleaf.
Oliver Burt
re3 Strategic Waste Manager
and Project Director

Members of the Joint Waste Disposal Board
Councillor Mrs Dorothy Hayes MBE, Bracknell Forest Council
Councillor John Harrison, Bracknell Forest Council
Councillor Sophia James, Reading Borough Council
Councillor Tony Page, Reading Borough Council
Councillor John Halsall, Wokingham Borough Council
Councillor Parry Batth, Wokingham Borough Council

EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS
If you hear the alarm:
1
2
3
4

Leave the building immediately
Follow the green signs
Use the stairs not the lifts
Do not re-enter the building until told to do so

If you require further information, please contact: Hannah Stevenson
Telephone 01344 352308
E-mail: hannah.stevenson@bracknell-forest.gov.uk

JOINT WASTE DISPOSAL BOARD
Thursday 23 January 2020 (9.30 am)
Boardroom - Time Square, Market Street, Bracknell, RG12 1JD.
AGENDA
Page No
1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary or affected
interests in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting.
Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter should
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is under consideration and
should notify the Democratic Services Officer in attendance that they
are withdrawing as they have such an interest. If the Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest is not entered on the register of Members interests
the Monitoring Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 days.
Any Member with an affected Interest in a matter must disclose the
interest to the meeting. There is no requirement to withdraw from the
meeting when the interest is only an affected interest, but the
Monitoring Officer should be notified of the interest, if not previously
notified of it, within 28 days of the meeting.

3.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE JOINT WASTE DISPOSAL
BOARD

5 - 10

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Joint Waste Disposal
Board held on 17 October 2019.
4.

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
To notify the Board of any items authorised by the Chairman on the
grounds of urgency.

5.

PROGRESS REPORT
To brief the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board on progress in the delivery
of the re3 Joint Waste PFI Contract.

6.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
To consider the following motion:
That pursuant to Regulation 21 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2000 and having
regard to the public interest, members of the public and press be
excluded from the meeting for the consideration of item 7 which
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information under the following
category of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972:
(3)

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person.

11 - 22

7.

FINANCIAL REPORT
To brief the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board on the Partnership’s
current financial position.

8.

DATE OF THE NEXT BOARD MEETING
The next Joint Waste Disposal Board is on the 23 April 2020 from
9:30am – 11:30am at Smallmead Recycling Centre, Reading.

23 - 32

Agenda Item 3
Classification: OFFICIAL
JOINT WASTE DISPOSAL BOARD
17 OCTOBER 2019
(9.30 - 11.40 am)
Present:

Bracknell Forest Borough Council
Councillor Mrs Dorothy Hayes MBE
Councillor John Harrison
Reading Borough Council
Councillor Sophia James
Councillor Tony Page
Wokingham District Council
Councillor Parry Batth

Officers

Pete Baveystock, Wokingham Borough Council
Grace Bradbrook, re3
Monika Bulmer, re3
Oliver Burt, re3
Andy Edwards, Reading Borough Council
Kevin Gibbs, Bracknell Forest Council
Sarah Innes, re3
Damian James, Bracknell Forest Council
Gareth Jones, Bracknell Forest Council
Clare Lawrence, Wokingham Borough Council
Claire Pike, Bracknell Forest Council

Apologies for absence were received from:
Councillor John Halsall, Wokingham Borough Council

11.

Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest.

12.

Minutes of the Meeting of the Joint Waste Disposal Board
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Joint Waste Disposal Board held
on the 4 July 2019, be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

13.

Urgent Items of Business
There were no urgent items of business.

14.

Progress Report
The Board considered a report on progress in the delivery of the re3 Joint Waste PFI
Contract. The report covered:







re3 Waste Strategy 2018 to 2020
Climate Change
Trade Waste at the Household Waste Recycling Centres
Reuse Shop
Lakeside Energy from Waste facility
User Satisfaction

Classification: Official

5






Confirmation of Changes to Waste Acceptance Protocol
Receipt of Food Waste at Longshot Lane and Smallmead
Joint Policy on Contamination of Kerbside Collected MDR
Communications

The Board was presented with updated information on the rate of recycling. Food
waste collection in Wokingham had increased recycling by 6.6% in the borough.
Wood recycling had also added to the overall rate in all three boroughs. The good
weather had also contributed to an increase in green waste collected. The
partnership average recycling rate was therefore 47%. Kerbside recycling was up
year-on-year in each borough and contamination had reduced too. It was noted that
recycling at Longshot Lane and Smallmead would be monitored.
The Board was reminded that all three councils had made commitments to address
climate change. The task for each was now to match their words with appropriate
actions. There had been considerable reductions in use of landfill, but there was a
need to identify the means to make decisions from a climate change perspective
alongside the commonly used economic and performance perspectives. The re3
Project Team had explored partnering with the University of Reading. A proposal had
been put forward to set a baseline and identify the most purposeful actions plus
communications to bring about behavioural change using the University’s expertise.
Following receipt of the quotation, some clarifications were to be sought before
further consideration. It was suggested that it would be worthwhile investigating what
the Local Government Association was doing to support councils. Oliver Burt
undertook to circulate the details of the existing proposal to members of the Board.
The Board was advised that a seven month trial of accepting trade waste from a
limited number of re3-based small businesses, was to start on 4 November 2019. 19
businesses from a range of sectors, including a parish council, had signed up to
participate in the trial. An update on progress would be presented to the next meeting
on 23 January 2020. The current costs were noted and that these would be reviewed
at the end of the trial.
Arising from trade waste trial, the Board was advised of a group which had not been
accepted as a charity for the purposes of waste disposal. It was reminded that the
eligibility criteria for the charity scheme was a matter for each council to determine.
The Board also discussed the establishment of a reuse shop. It was advised that the
contractor, FCC, felt that the volume of available material could support one reuse
shop at Smallmead or Longshot Lane. Three possible options were outlined, whilst a
fourth involving provision at both recycling centres was also being considered. It was
suggested that providing only one shop could result in longer journeys, contrary to
the aim to reduce the carbon footprint. It was noted that to accommodate two shops,
a full review of all existing reuse activity would be required to ensure the viability of
both. The Board agreed that there was a need for more clarity, reviewing the
suitability of any available locations and then potentially choosing the best site to
open one shop to see how it went before deciding whether to add a second.
The Board was reminded that the Lakeside Energy from Waste site would be
dismantled to accommodate the new runway at Heathrow if the runway got the go
ahead. Planning permission was therefore being sought from Slough Borough
Council for an alternative site. A letter in support of the proposal had been submitted
in view of the implications of the loss of the site. The officers agreed to check the
status of the planning application.

6

The Board was advised that user satisfaction remained high with overall satisfaction
at Smallmead at 99% and Longshot Lane 98%. There remained some question as to
whether everyone using the sites was entitled to do so, as 6% of those responding
had declined to give their postcode. There had also been issues with fake permits
and permits being offered for sale. In the circumstances, it was now proposed to
conduct simple ID checks on all visitors. Existing forms of ID, as identified in 2016,
would be used instead of the windscreen permits and would be supplemented with
other forms such as the Bracknell Forest e+card and valid on-street parking permits.
Permits. Windscreen permits would no longer be accepted from February 2020 after
communicating the changes between now and January. It was suggested that large
signs should be posted at the sites regarding the change.
The Board was advised that in view of the success of the food waste collections
already underway, the facility for the councils to deposit collected food waste would
be extended to include Longshot Lane as well. It was agreed that the officers would
report back on any issues that may arise.
Reading was also to introduce food waste collections from next year. Details were
being finalised. The Council had recognised that there were some significant
challenges to be addressed as homes of multiple occupation and flats were often
more challenging in respect of general waste recycling. As a result, the Council was
intending to launch the scheme in a number of pilot areas, as the Council wanted to
learn as much as possible from the pilots before extending the scheme to the whole
borough. The Bracknell Forest and Wokingham officers expressed a willingness to
help Reading as working together could help all three councils achieve their aims.
Contamination of collected recycling, by items which were not wanted for recycling by
the material reprocessors, remained an issue which needed more attention. A
phased approach for dealing with contaminated bins was being planned with a
shared policy now being reviewed ahead of implementation. The Waste and
Resources Action Programme (WRAP) was willing to work with the partnership to trial
it. Officers were asked to ensure that the benefits of WRAP’s involvement were
maximised, with a suggestion that, for example, the work could be targeted at the
difficult areas where the aforementioned trials were to commence in Reading.
In response to a question about packaging, The Board was advised that there were a
number of initiatives to encourage more recyclable materials. It was suggested that
there was a need to do more to provide advice on the items which may or may not be
recyclable to increase awareness. The Group was advised that the Plastic Recycling
Wheel to offer guidance to residents was to be delivered to 16,000 homes during
October. The Plastic Recycling Guide on the re3 web site had also been refreshed.
Since February 2018, there had been a 59% increase in plastic recycling.
The Board was also advised that the trade waste pilot was being promoted. It was a
year since the launch of the re3cycloipedia app. In that time, there had been over
50,000 searches. Public tours of the re3 Material Recycling Facility (MRF), during
Recycle week had also been well received.
A further order for 8,000 bags of re3grow compost had been placed. The price would
remain the same at £3.50 per 40 litre bag or 3 bags for £10.00.
Overall, the Board was pleased with how messages about recycling were being
conveyed across the re3 partnership, but it acknowledged that there was a lot more
to do.

7

RESOLVED that:

15.

1

A report on the initial success of the trade waste trial be presented at the
meeting on January 2020.

2

Further investigations be undertaken into the best location for an re3 reuse
shop with an initial emphasis to be placed on identifying whether a first shop
can be established, and its performance reviewed before a decision on
whether to establish a second was taken.

3

Windscreen permits be no longer accepted as proof of address at the re3
Recycling Centres from February 2020.

Exclusion of Public and Press
That pursuant to Regulation 21 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Access to Information) Regulations 2000 and having regard to the public interest,
members of the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the consideration
of item 7 which involved the likely disclosure of exempt information under the
following category of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972:
(3)

16.

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person.

Annual Financial Statement
The Board considered a report summarising the current financial position of the joint
waste PFI including:
•

The 2018/19 accounts and detailed the emerging position in the current year.

•

The first draft of the budget for 2020/21

It also briefed the Board on the reuse of water-based paints received at the Recycling
Centres, preparations for the UK exit from the European Union and work with DEFRA
regarding the Resources and Waste Strategy.
The Board was advised that:


The contract saving for 2018/19 had been achieved in full.



There had been a net underspend of £356k against the sum of the respective
re3 council budgets.



The three councils had benefitted from higher energy from waste capacity for
their residual waste, increasing diversion from landfill, an increase in recyclate
income and lower overall tonnages than expected.



Recyclate income had risen to £377k in 2018/19, an increase of £149k from
the previous year, arising from an increase in mixed dry recycling, including a
full year of collecting pots, tubs and trays.



The impact of Brexit was uncertain but re3 was in a good position to respond
to whatever may happen.



A second draft of the 2020/21 budget would be prepared in November.

8



As part of the budget setting process for 2020/21, estimated savings of £25k
from additional use of energy from waste in 2020/21 from recycling was to be
directed to a recycling initiative in 2021/22, as agreed with Defra.

The Board discussed existing arrangements for the disposal of paint which was being
undertaken by the Green Machine social enterprise. It had become clear that the
existing arrangement, despite its original merits as a social enterprise, was neither
cost-effective, nor being completed effectively. It was therefore agreed by the Board
that the existing arrangement could no longer be supported.
RESOLVED that a reuse scheme for suitable water-based paint should be continued,
if at all possible, via alternative means and on a non-profit basis.
17.

Date of the Next Board Meeting
The Group was reminded that its next meeting would be held at 9.30am on 23
January 2020.

CHAIRMAN

9

This page is intentionally left blank

10

Agenda Item 5
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
TO:

JOINT WASTE DISPOSAL BOARD
23rd January 2020

PROGRESS REPORT
Report of the re3 Project Director
1

INTRODUCTION

1.1

The purpose of this report is to brief the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board on progress
in the delivery of the re3 Joint Waste PFI Contract.

2

RECOMMENDATION

2.1

That Members note the contents of this report.

2.2

That Members request a report on the outcomes of the trade waste trial at the
re3 recycling centres, as described at 5.20, be presented at the meeting of the
JWDB in April 2020.

2.3

That Members approve the recommendation for usage of commercial and
commercial-type vehicle permits to be monitored from the start of each
contract year, commencing 1st April 2020, as described from 5.44.

2.4

That Members request a report on the outcomes of the contamination project
with WRAP, as described at 5.51, be presented at the meeting of the JWDB in
October 2020.

2.5

That Members approve the recommendation for a supplementary condition to
changes to the residency checks as described at 6.10.

3

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

3.1

None for this report.

4

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

The purpose of this report is to brief Members in relation to progress in delivery of the
re3 Joint Waste PFI Contract.

5

PROGRESS IN RELATION TO WASTE MANAGEMENT
re3 Waste Strategy 2018 to 2020

5.1

The re3 Strategy describes the context in which the re3 partnership is seeking to
improve waste management. The principal themes of the re3 Strategy are a reflection
of that context. They are: (i) reduce the net cost of waste, and (ii) recycle 50%.

5.2

The re3 Strategy also identifies 13 objectives, which are designed to either promote
direct improvements or to support improvements indirectly. In 2018, each of the re3
councils formally adopted the re3 Strategy for 2018 to 2020.

5.3

For the period April 2019 to December 2019, the provisional headline results are as
follows:

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

11

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
Recycling Rate
Council

Target

Actual

Bracknell Forest
Reading
Wokingham

43%
39%
52%

44.1%
36.4%
53.5%

5.4

The full range of provisional results for the period April 2019 to December 2019 are
presented at Appendix One.

5.5

The current re3 Strategy was designed to run from 2018 to 2020. It has been an
effective focus for developments in many areas of the wider waste service, not least
the incorporation of food waste processing within the services available to the re3
partnership.

5.6

A forthcoming Environment Bill, reaffirmed within the post-election Queen’s Speech,
is expected to incorporate significant changes to waste management and waste
collection. Alongside legislative change, the dynamic nature of the local government
operating environment, is also an ongoing factor which means that working together
on waste management will continue to be a valid and viable response for the re3
councils – both to support individual and shared imperatives.

5.7

Accordingly, officers will provide, to the next re3 Board meeting: (1) a brief review of
the 2018 to 2020 strategy, and (2) a proposal for a replacement Strategy, which
synthesises the salient external and internal conditions applicable to the re3
partnership and the councils.
Trade Waste at the Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs)

5.8

In line with the seven month trial agreed by Members in July 2019, acceptance of
trade waste from registered traders commenced on Monday 4th November 2019.

5.9

The new service is promoted regularly via re3 and Councils social media, re3 email
newsletter, direct emails to local traders and Bracknell Forest e-newsletter.

5.10

Targeted social media advertising was used during November and December and
the advert has been also placed within the confirmation email produced for residents
applying for the commercial and commercial-type vehicle permits.

5.11

Above activities resulted in over 600 unique users to the relevant web page between
October and December.

5.12

As of the end of December 2019, 20 traders had successfully received permits for
participation in the trial and nine of these had used the service, making 17 visits
between them.

5.13

In order to establish ways in which we might be able to increase participation in the
trial, Officers produced a telephone survey to be conducted by Contractor staff with
registered users.

5.14

In response to the survey, all 12 respondents confirmed that they had found the
registration system for the service easy to use. Of the 8 respondents who had used
the service, all said that they were happy with the way the charges were assessed on
site and with the range of items they could dispose of. Furthermore, they all said that
they would continue to use the service and recommend it to others.

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

12

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

5.15

Of the four respondents who had not used the service at the time of the survey, three
said that they were still planning to use it in future. Only one said that they may not
use the service and cited the scheme as too expensive to dispose of large quantities
of garden waste.

5.16

In addition to the survey of registered users, Officers also sought feedback from
admin staff and the Meet and Greet teams at both sites. All groups noted
conversations with perspective customers in which it was advised that traders would
like to be able to dispose of items, such as large electricals, that can be difficult to
dispose of elsewhere.

5.17

The desire for additional items to be added to the charging structure may also be a
factor in the high levels of views to the relevant webpage, but the relatively low
number of sign ups.

5.18

As a result, Officers plan to add the additional waste types listed in Appendix Two to
the charging structure, and to use these changes as an opportunity to seek further
customers for the trial, through additional communication. In line with previous legal
advice and the calculations for the original materials, the prices are designed to be
non-profit making. Officers have sought to cover the costs of waste disposal as well
as existing overhead charges and will review these prices at the end of the trial. In
the case of engine oil, advice has also been sought from Trading Standards in
regards to assessing charges for liquid waste.

5.19

Although the prices, particularly for the large electrical items and tyres, may be low in
comparison to other disposal options, we will continue to maintain the limit on the
number of traders that can participate in the trial. In addition, in order to maintain
compliance with the site permits, the acceptance of hazardous items will be restricted
to one item, per category, per visit. By not overcharging for disposal, we can continue
to discourage fly-tipping, in line with the aims of the trial.

5.20

Officers will present further results from the trial at the meeting of the Joint Waste
Disposal Board in April, with a recommendation regarding the continuation of this
service.
Reuse Shop

5.21

As discussed at the October 2019 re3 Board meeting, Officers have been exploring
the potential for expanded and combined reuse and retail opportunities either on site,
at the existing Recycling Centres, or at complementary locations nearby.

5.22

As Officers considered that sufficient space for a shop to be operated within the
boundaries of the Longshot Lane Recycling Centre was unlikely to be available, one
consideration was whether a shop in Bracknell should be in close proximity to the
site.

5.23

Officers have contacted the property services team at Bracknell Forest Council with
regards to vacant units on the Longshot Lane industrial estate but have been advised
that the Head Lease would not permit the proposed activities.

5.24

Officers will continue to explore options and are currently arranging visits to see the
best examples of reuse shops already operated at FCC-run recycling centres.
Paint Reuse

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

13

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
5.25

At the meeting of the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board in October 2019, Officers
presented a series of options in relation to the reuse of water-based paint received at
the recycling centres.

5.26

Members agreed to replace the previous arrangement with an alternative, and
Officers have since liaised further with the Contractor on the operation of an
exchange area.

5.27

It is proposed that staff would make suitable paint available at the exchange area,
located undercover at both re3 recycling centres, at the start of each day. This paint
would then be available for re3 residents to take from the sites, free of charge,
subject to the agreement of a suitable disclaimer.

5.28

The quantity of paint reused via this scheme would be measured through deducting
the weight of the paint available at the start of the day, to the weight of the paint
remaining at the end of the day.

5.29

The details of the proposal have been shared with the Environment Agency (EA) and
the Contractor assesses that the EA are supportive of the plans, in the absence of
any objections.

5.30

The Contractor has committed to make the scheme operational in February 2020,
with Officers currently in the process of finalising details and drafting appropriate
signage.
Barriers at Longshot Lane

5.31

In August 2019, a serious injury was caused to a resident and visitor to Longshot
Lane Recycling Centre by a driver of a vehicle who was also visiting the site as a
resident. As the incident is the subject of further proceedings/prosecution, Officers
will not describe the specific details in this report.

5.32

Following any such incident, however, it is normal and correct to review all relevant
activities and control measures.

5.33

Following this review, a walkway was created in front of the four large bays in the
lower half of the site used for cardboard, wood and garden waste. This walkway is
protected by temporary barriers designed to segregate pedestrians from vehicles.

5.34

In order to control waste which may otherwise spill out onto the footpath and into
areas used by traffic, metal barriers have also been added within each of the bays
used for cardboard and garden waste. Through requiring residents to place their
waste behind the barriers, these help to maximise the capacity in the bays, and
consequently, the availability of the site.

5.35

The metal barriers are of the type first used in the garden waste bays in February
2014. They are set at 1.1m in height, which is the minimum legal requirement and
same height as the walls over which residents deposit their general waste. Site staff
are also available to help with lifting bags, where such assistance is necessary.

5.36

Officers have liaised with Contractor staff regarding the use of permanent barriers for
the walkway and the Contractor is subsequently working with operational and health
and safety staff to consider suitable designs. They are also developing safe working
procedures that will enable the contents of the bays in the Longshot Lane Recycling
Centre to be ‘pushed up’ without the need for the whole site to be temporarily
unavailable to residents.

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

14

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

Expiry Dates for Commercial and Commercial Type Vehicle Permits
5.37

Members will recall that residents must apply for a permit before each visit to the
recycling centres, if using a commercial or commercial-type vehicle. This system was
designed to enable usage to be monitored and abuse by traders identified.

5.38

As the follow up process required a significant amount of Officer time, an
investigation began into ways in which the process could become less labour
intensive, whilst continuing to deliver the expected savings.

5.39

In January 2019, Officers reported that due to the relatively low numbers of frequent
users and resource limitations, the introduction of a limit on the number of permits
that could be applied for per household was not proposed.

5.40

Instead, Officers advised that they were investigating ways in which permit usage
could be monitored from the start of each contract year. This would have two main
benefits. Firstly, the proposed amendment would provide a clear structure for making
contact with residents and ensure that high frequency users know that their usage
continues to be monitored. Residents would continue to be written to where they use
nine or more permits in a 12 month period. Secondly, the amendment would enable
the partnership to manage the size of the database, which has now become very
large.

5.41

Officers have previously reported that a significant proportion of commercial vehicle
users are utilising permits on the same day as they apply; rather than at least 24
hours in advance. These permits are not currently recognised by the ipads used by
the Meet and Greet teams because data is only transferred from Reading Borough
Council (as host of the application Webform), to FCC, once per day.

5.42

In order to monitor permit usage from the start of each contract year, permits will
effectively expire at the end of each contract year and also be unrecognised by the
system. In order to avoid confusion between same day permits and expired permits
it was necessary to increase the frequency at which data from commercial vehicle
permit applications is uploaded to the FCC database. This will have the added benefit
of helping to ensure that users are not able to use the same permit on multiple
occasions, potentially as a way of seeking to deposit trade waste at the tax-payers
expense.

5.43

Officers have liaised with IT colleagues in Reading Borough Council, and with FCC,
and now understand that this amendment will be made in January 2020.

5.44

As such, Officers propose to implement the new system from April 1st 2020.

5.45

Most permit users should be unaffected by the change because permits are designed
to be applied for as and when they are needed, rather than a long way in advance. In
particular the permit requires that details of the waste type being deposited are
recorded. The main group of people who may be affected are residents who would
expect to apply for a permit at the end of March, for use in early April. Officers will
therefore ensure that the Webform is updated to highlight the change, a couple of
months in advance.
Joint Policy on Contamination of Kerbside Collected MDR

5.46

As Members will be aware, there is a level of contamination present within the mixed
dry recyclables (MDR) collected from the kerbside. As shown in Appendix One, levels

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

15

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
of non-target and non-recyclable material (excluding non-target paper and card)
currently make up between 10% and 15% of the total.
5.47

As a high level of contamination can affect the ability of the MRF to process the good
recyclables, Officers reported in October 2019 that the three Councils had agreed to
work together to draft a joint contamination policy, setting out a phased approach for
dealing with contaminated bins. WRAP had indicated that they could support the
implementation of the policy in trial areas through the provision on funding and
technical advice and Officers reported that they would keep Members informed of
any developments including approval and implementation of the policy.

5.48

Following discussions with colleagues, a funding agreement with WRAP was signed
on behalf of the re3 Partnership in December 2019. In addition the location of
suitable areas, in which to trial the implementation of the policy, were identified.
These areas will cover approximately 16,000 houses across the re3 area.

5.49

The project with WRAP will be formed of three stages, each lasting approximately
three months. The first stage commenced in early December and relates to the
collection of pre-implementation data; including MRF sampling results from the trial
areas, information on the number of contaminated containers recorded by the
collection crews the number of visits made to the Council’s waste and recycling
webpages. The second stage is the implementation of the contamination policy and
is due to commence on the 23rd of March. During this stage a Recyclate Quality
Officer will be employed to monitor the tagging of contaminated containers. The final
stage relates to the collection of post-implementation data, and will conclude at the
end of September. This stage will require the ongoing implementation of the policy,
so that the number of stage four contamination incidents (as defined by the re3
Contamination Policy) can be monitored.

5.50

Prior to the commencement of stage two of the project, re3 Officers will work with
WRAP and Council Colleagues in order to design communication leaflets to be
delivered to all households in the trial areas, print contamination tags for use on
contaminated containers and train crews and contact centre staff in relation to the
new policy. In addition, an individual will be appointed as the Recyclate Quality
Officer.

5.51

It is proposed that the outcomes of the project be reported the Members of the Joint
Waste Disposal Board at the meeting of October 2020, with updates being provided
as appropriate in April and July also.

6

COMMUNICATIONS
Plastic recycling

6.1

Based on the findings from compositional analysis of the residual waste undertaken
in February 2019, mixed plastics had lower capture rate in comparison to other
plastic items i.e. plastic bottles, equating to over 70% of recyclable plastic found in
the residual household bins.

6.2

To reduce confusion and increase plastic recycling re3 Marketing and
Communications Officer implemented recycling campaign: “Put a spin on your plastic
recycling”, promoting more information on recyclable plastic items, including
publishing Plastic Recycling Guide, promoting TerraCycle drop off locations and
placing adverts with similar theme in the Council Magazines.

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

16

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
6.3

Another element of the campaign was ‘Plastic Recycling Wheel’. The wheel is a
handy tool to help residents check what they can do with different types of plastic
packaging or items. The wheels were sent to approx. 16,000 householders living in
Warfield, Tilehurst and Woodley. The wheel was also distributed to the Council
offices, public libraries, community hubs and displayed at the Recycling Centres and
promoted via re3 and Councils social media channels. Following distribution, re3
received directly, via direct emails and on social media positive comments,
complementing the concept.

6.4

Progress in plastic recycling campaign is measured by evaluating residents’
response to the communication materials available on the website, social media,
direct as well as is supported by MRF tonnages data and MRF sampling results of
targeted rounds.

6.5

Officers will present further results from the campaign at the meeting of the Joint
Waste Disposal Board in April.
Residency checks changes

6.6

During the JWDB meeting in October 2019, Members agreed that windscreen
permits be no longer accepted as proof of residency at the re3 Recycling Centres
from February 2020.

6.7

Changes to the residency checks were covered by BBC TV South and BBC Radio
Berkshire and was aired in October what helped spreading the information. Local
press team were invited to produce news report at the Smallmead Recycling Centres
and several residents were interviewed. The reportage was positive with residents
responding well or in neutral way towards announced changes.

6.8

In addition, re3 Marketing and Communication Officer communicated this information
to residents using available re3 and Council channels such as:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Placing relevant information on the re3 website and Waste Acceptance
Policy;
Briefing Meet & Greet and Recycling Centres staff to communicate this
information to visitors;
Displaying new signage at both HWRC sites;
Producing leaflets and large format posters displayed around the HWRC
sites;
Issuing press release to local media, parishes and local organisations
(coverage by key local outlets: Berkshire Live, Bracknell News, The
Wokingham Paper);
Placing editorial in the Borough News (Wokingham Council magazine);
Adding information to subsequent edition of re3 Monthly Newsletter as well as
to Bracknell Forest e-newsletter sent out to Bracknell Forest Council e-card
holders;
Publishing regular posts on re3 social media that were amplified by the
Councils social accounts;

6.9

The information has appeared to be very engaging and outreaching significant
number of residents, i.e. social media posts exceeding over 28,000 users organic
reach.

6.10

Despite general neutral sentiment of received feedback, re3 noted concerns
regarding this change ie. extended checks time. Positive feedback noted that many
residents already is using other form of documentation and agreed that carrying

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

17

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
driving license is generally a common practice.
6.11

Following feedback, including from the Meet & Greet team and despite confidence
that this information is wide-spread, Officers recommend adding supplementary
condition to decision taken during the JWDB in October 2019 and allow unaware
residents about changes who arrive only with windscreen permit, to access the
Recycling Centres after 1st February 2020 for a period of six months. This will give
residents a chance to hand-over their windscreen permits to site staff and ensure
they bring one of the many forms of identification on their next visit.
Video assets

6.12

The re3 facilities continue to be popular with residents. The most recent User
Satisfaction Survey, undertaken in September 2019, shows that overall 98% of users
rate the public facilities as either ‘Good’ or ‘Very Good’.

6.13

However, less is known about the other aspects of the re3 service – principally
because while they are undertaken within the same facilities, they are not as visible
and involve considerable amounts of work undertaken away from where residents
can see what’s going on. Some activities, such as the sorting and preparation of
collected recyclables are essential in dealing with waste and recycling from re3
residents. Successful tours of the recycling facilities (the Material Recycling Facility,
or MRF) have been offered over the last two years – and they’ve been ‘sold out’ on
each occasion - but they, naturally, have a limited capacity.

6.14

Accordingly, the re3 Project Team has commissioned, and contributed to, the
preparation of two series of videos about what happens to collected recycling and
food waste.

6.15

Members of the re3 Board and officers have featured in the videos that provide
insights into the recycling process from the moment of collection through sorting,
baling and sending to the recycling companies. Both videos focus on benefits of
recycling, allowing residents to feel reassured about their efforts.

6.16

Videos will be used as an educational tool and will be made available to interested
community groups and schools. They will be also used to display during the
educational sessions provided to young visitors, that unable to attend full tour of the
MRF.

6.17

Videos will be published on the website and social media.

7

ADVICE RECEIVED FROM ADMINISTERING AUTHORITY
Head of Legal Services

7.1

None for this report.
Corporate Finance Business Partner

7.2

None for this report.
Equalities Impact Assessment

7.3

None.

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

18

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
Strategic Risk Management Issues
None
8

CONSULTATION

8.1

Principal Groups Consulted
Not applicable.

8.2

Method of Consultation
Not applicable.

8.3

Representations Received
Not applicable.

Background Papers
None
Contacts for further information
Sarah Innes, re3 Monitoring and Performance Officer
0118 937 3459
sarah.innes@reading.gov.uk
Monika Bulmer, re3 Marketing and Communications Officer
0118 937 3460
monika.bulmer@reading.gov.uk
Oliver Burt, re3 Strategic Waste Manager
0118 937 3990
oliver.burt@reading.gov.uk

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

19

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
APPENDIX ONE – Objective C and D
Bracknell Forest
Cumulative Performance
Category

Background

Target/Indicator

Quarter 3

Equivalent Period 2018/19

C1A

This target is the traditional
‘recycling rate’ target that should
be comparable with other councils
in the UK.

Target: 43%

44.07%

39.91%

Using the respective weekly
council kerbside collections is an
effective way to recycle. This
indicator looks at this service
alone.

Target: 23%

23.82%

24.01%

Despite displacing ‘virgin’
materials, the recycling of IBA into
building blocks is not yet counted
as ‘recycling’ by the Government.
Nonetheless, re3 recognises the
value of this activity.

9%

8%

8%

Statutory Recycling
Target

C1B
Kerbside Recycling
C1C

Including Incinerator
Bottom Ash (IBA)

C1E Contamination

Contamination is the term used to
describe items which are not
supposed to be present within
recyclables. The level of
contamination is, therefore, an
indicator of the effectiveness of
waste collection arrangements. It
also has an impact on recycling
because at high levels of
contamination it can become
harder to separate ‘good’
recyclables from the unwanted
items.

Target

80.72%

Target

86.26%

Target

81.68%

Non Target
Paper and Card

3.10%

Non Target
Paper and Card

2.52%

Non Target
Paper and Card

3.06%

Other NonTarget and NonRecyclable
Material

16.17%

Other NonTarget and NonRecyclable
Material

11.22%

Other NonTarget and NonRecyclable
Material

15.26%

Reading
Cumulative Performance
Category

Background

Target/Indicator

Quarter 3

Equivalent Period 2018/19

C2A

This target is the traditional
‘recycling rate’ target that should
be comparable with other councils
in the UK.

Target: 39%

36.44%

32.03%

Using the respective weekly
council kerbside collections is an
effective way to recycle. This
indicator looks at this service
alone.

Target: 24%

20.42%

19.09%

Despite displacing ‘virgin’
materials, the recycling of IBA into
building blocks is not yet counted
as ‘recycling’ by the Government.
Nonetheless, re3 recognises the
value of this activity.

11%

10%

11%

Statutory Recycling
Target

C2B
Kerbside Recycling
C2C

Including Incinerator
Bottom Ash (IBA)

C1E Contamination

Contamination is the term used to
describe items which are not
supposed to be present within
recyclables. The level of
contamination is, therefore, an
indicator of the effectiveness of
waste collection arrangements. It
also has an impact on recycling
because at high levels of
contamination it can become
harder to separate ‘good’
recyclables from the unwanted
items.

Target

79.42%

Target

81.75%

Target

84.61%

Non Target
Paper and Card

2.68%

Non Target
Paper and Card

3.78%

Non Target
Paper and Card

2.35%

Other NonTarget and NonRecyclable
Material

17.90%

Other NonTarget and NonRecyclable
Material

14.48%

Other NonTarget and NonRecyclable
Material

13.04%

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

20

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
Wokingham
Cumulative Performance
Category

Background

Target/Indicator

Quarter 3

Equivalent Period 2018/19

C3A

This target is the traditional
‘recycling rate’ target that should
be comparable with other councils
in the UK.

Target: 52%

53.46%

40.51%

Using the respective weekly
council kerbside collections is an
effective way to recycle. This
indicator looks at this service
alone.

Target: 26%

30.78%

22.74%

Despite displacing ‘virgin’
materials, the recycling of IBA into
building blocks is not yet counted
as ‘recycling’ by the Government.
Nonetheless, re3 recognises the
value of this activity.

9%

8%

9%

Statutory Recycling
Target

C3B
Kerbside Recycling
C3C

Including Incinerator
Bottom Ash (IBA)

C1E Contamination

Contamination is the term used to
describe items which are not
supposed to be present within
recyclables. The level of
contamination is, therefore, an
indicator of the effectiveness of
waste collection arrangements. It
also has an impact on recycling
because at high levels of
contamination it can become
harder to separate ‘good’
recyclables from the unwanted
items.

Target

77.53%

Target

76.54%

Target

83.78%

Non Target
Paper and Card

11.79%

Non Target
Paper and Card

12.60%

Non Target
Paper and Card

8.08%

Other NonTarget and NonRecyclable
Material

10.68%

Other NonTarget and NonRecyclable
Material

10.86%

Other NonTarget and NonRecyclable
Material

8.14%

Recycling Centres
Cumulative Performance
Category

Target (2018/19)

Quarter 3

Equivalent Period 2018/19

Target: 60%

73.07%

53.01%

Target: 55%

78.62%

52.24%

D
Longshot Lane

D
Smallmead

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

21

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

Appendix Two – Trade Waste Pricing Structure at re3 Recycling Centres
Note: Materials in italics are additions to the original pricing structure.
Price per 25L bag or
equivalent (Inc VAT)

Waste Type
Plasterboard
Rubble (e.g. bricks, tiles, gravel, sand)
Soil
Bagged General Waste (Non-recyclable)
Garden Waste
Wood
Paper and Cardboard
Tins, Cans and Plastic Bottles, Pots, Tubs and Trays
Glass Bottles and Jars
Scrap Metal
Textiles

£3
£3
£3
£1.50
£1
£1
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
Price per single item
(Inc VAT)

Waste Type
Rubble (e.g. ceramic/porcelain sink, toilet, shower tray)
Bulky Residual Items (e.g. sofa, mattress, roll of carpet)*
Small Electrical Items (e.g. kettle, toaster, radio)
Large Electrical Items (e.g. washing machine)**
Computers, TVs and Monitors**
Domestic Fridges and Freezers**
Commercial Fridges and Freezers**
Car and Motorcycle Tyres
Ink Cartridges

£3
£6
£1
£2
£2
£2
£62#
£2
£1
Price per 5 Litre Container
(Inc VAT)

Waste Type
Engine Oil***

£1
Price per 20kg
(Inc VAT)

Waste Type
Asbestos

£8

* Non-hazardous items only.
** Only one item can be deposited, per category, per trip.
*** Price stated is for volumes up to and including 5 litres.
#

Please note that commercial fridges and freezers are not covered under our Producer Compliance
Scheme and so attract a higher disposal charge than other items of waste electrical and electronic
equipment.

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED

22

Agenda Item 7

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

23

This page is intentionally left blank

